ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
HOUSE SPECI AL COWM TTEE ON FI SHERI ES
March 22, 2004
9:12 a. m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representati ve Paul Seaton, Chair
Representati ve Peggy Wl son, Vice Chair
Representati ve Dan (Ogg

Representative Les Gara

Representative David CGuttenberg

VEMBERS ABSENT

Representative Cheryll Heinze
Represent ati ve Ral ph Sanuel s

COWM TTEE CALENDAR

HOUSE BI LL NO. 309
"An Act prohibiting the release of nonindigenous predatory fish
into public water."

- MOVED CSHB 309(FSH) QUT OF COW TTEE
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: HB 309

SHORT TITLE: PROH BI T RELEASE OF PREDATORY FI SH
SPONSOR( S): REPRESENTATI VE(S) WOLF

05/ 08/ 03 (H) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS
05/ 08/ 03 (H FSH, RES

05/ 16/ 03 (H FSH AT 7:30 AM CAPI TOL 124

05/ 16/ 03 (H) Heard & Hel d

05/ 16/ 03 (H M NUTE( FSH)

03/ 22/ 04 (H) FSH AT 9: 00 AM CAPI TOL 124

W TNESS REGQ STER

REPRESENTATI VE KELLY WOLF

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified as the sponsor of HB 309.

DOUG VI NCENT- LANG, Assi stant Director

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -1- March 22, 2004



Di vision of Sport Fish

Al aska Departnment of Fish & Gane

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 309 and answered
guesti ons.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

TAPE 04-16, SIDE A
Nunmber 0001

CHAIR PAUL SEATON called the House Special Conmittee on
Fisheries neeting to order at 9:12 a.m Representatives Seaton
Wlson, Ogg, and Gara were present at the call to order.
Representative (Quttenberg arrived as the neeting was in
pr ogr ess.

CHAIR SEATON reported that he'd conversed wth [assistant
attorney general Stephen White of the Departnent of Law, | egal
counsel to the Alaska Departnent of Fish & Gane], and that a
| egal opinion will be provided by the end of the week wth
regard to the ability of the Board [of Fisheries] to change the
mul tiple areas of net-fishing for salnon in a single year.

HB 309- PROHI BI T RELEASE OF PREDATORY FI SH

CHAI R SEATON announced that the only order of business would be
HOUSE BILL NO 309, "An Act prohibiting the release of
noni ndi genous predatory fish into public water.™

Nunber 0147

REPRESENTATI VE WLSON noved to adopt the proposed committee
substitute (CS), Version 23-LS1097\S, Uernohle, 3/12/04, as a
work draft. [No objection was stated, and Version S was treated
as adopt ed. ]

Nunmber 0182

REPRESENTATI VE KELLY WOLF, Al aska State Legislature, sponsor,
explained that HB 309 is ainmed at nonindigenous fish in Alaska.
Noting that he would reference the  Southcentral area
specifically, he advised of a grow ng problem over the |ast 25
or so years on the Kenai Peninsula and in the valley involving
the invasion of nonindigenous fish species, specifically,
northern pike. In the last couple of vyears, the Al aska
Department of Fish & Gane (ADF&S also discovered that yellow

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 2- March 22, 2004



perch on the Kenai Peninsula had been brought in illegally; he
suggested sonmeone from ADF&G could identify the nonetary anount
it costs the state to use rotenone on the [unspecified] lake in
the northern Kenai Peninsula area to extinguish those.

REPRESENTATI VE WOLF said the concern is that "bucket biology" is
taki ng pl ace. Al t hough northern pike are considered gane fish
in some of the Interior and sone other states, they're not

i ndigenous to  Southcentral Al aska; it costs ADF&G an
undeterm ned anount of noney to control them through rotenone
and educati on. He said the departnment currently has an

educational program as do other organizations, to provide
publi ¢ awareness about northern pike, their habit, and what the
actions of some "bucket biologist” can create for an entire
wat er shed. Expl ai ni ng that ADF&G has worked on [Version S] and
to his belief supports it, Representative WIf deferred to Doug
Vincent-Lang to address what it costs the departnent to get rid
of yellow perch in the | ake.

Nunmber 0450

DOUG VI NCENT- LANG Assistant Director, Division of Sport Fish,
Al aska Departnment of Fish & Gane, said he wasn't sure of the
name of the |ake, but estimated $20,000 to $30,000 in terms of
personnel and so forth in order to poison the | ake. He stated
the desire to get ahead of the situation, rather than constantly
be responding to invasive species that have been introduced into
| akes. Expressing concern that it's cost-prohibitive to use
rotenone after the fact, he said this |egislation would provide
anot her tool for prevention.

REPRESENTATI VE GARA asked what inpact the rotenone has on
rai nbow trout or other fish.

MR. VI NCENT- LANG answered that rotenone will kill all the fish
in the lake; clearly, it's a last-ditch effort. Thus [ADF&G is
always trading off between the need to control an invasive
species and reintroduci ng the other species back into the | ake.

CHAI R SEATON asked whether there have been any problens wth
sti ckl ebacks.

VR. VI NCENT- LANG replied that stickl ebacks are "pretty
ubi qui tous” around Southcentral Alaska and there hasn't been
much of a problemw th people noving them The fish that people
have noved around in Alaska are northern pike, into the
Sout hcentr al region, and now vyellow perch on the Kenai

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 3- March 22, 2004



Peni nsul a. He added that northern pike appear to be show ng up
increasingly on the Kenai Peninsula as well, which causes
concern to [the departnment] in terns of the standard stocks on
t he Kenai Peni nsul a.

Number 0684

REPRESENTATI VE OGG nentioned people who transport crab from the
Bering Sea to the @ulf of Alaska, but don't have a permt and
have to get rid of theminto the water because they aren't able
to offload them Pointing out that this could put fertilized
crab eggs into the @lf of Al aska and nentioning that water
m ght be released as well, he asked whether this bill would nmake
t hose commercial fishernen subject to a class C fel ony.

MR. VI NCENT- LANG said he was trying to think that through, and
one question is whether there is a difference between the
species in the Bering Sea and those in the Qulf of Al aska. He
then said there is a possibility "that could be done," but he
wasn't sure what |anguage could be added to ensure that isn't
occurring now and isn't damaging to the health of the ecosystem

CHAIR SEATON offered his belief that there definitely are
different species if people may release live crab in such a
situation, and that it's not appropriate to do that. He pointed
out that although these aren't "ornamental fish," seawater nust
be circulated around live crab the entire tine. He said it's a
valid point that should be covered here.

Nunber 0885

REPRESENTATI VE GARA noted that this has focused on the problem
of inmpacts on freshwater fish. He said he hadn't heard a
concern about this with regard to saltwater species. He asked

what M. Vincent-Lang would think if this were Iimted to just
freshwat er speci es.

MR, VINCENT-LANG replied that invasive species clearly are a
problem in fresh water and salt water, although the nmajor
problens [raised] to date are in fresh water. He recalled that
perhaps sonme laws or policies on the state level deal wth
i nvasi ve species in the marine environnent.

CHAI R SEATON asked whet her Representative WIf had a comment.

REPRESENTATI VE WOLF said not at this tine, and that this had
caught him off guard.

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -4- March 22, 2004



CHAI R SEATON remarked that that's a reason for the committee
process.

Number 0995

REPRESENTATI VE GARA suggested perhaps exenpting conduct in salt
water that is an accepted commercial fishing practice. He added
that he didn't know whether what Representative Ogg was
di scussing i nvol ved accepted commercial fishing practices.

REPRESENTATI VE OGG expl ained that he is just concerned that this
doesn't subject comercial fishermen to a class C felony for
doing what they've nornmally done for nany years, such as
bri ngi ng golden king crab or blue king crab from the Bering Sea
to the Gulf of Alaska if they sonehow escape or the eggs go out
in the seawater system He recalled that Ilast tinme the
commttee tal ked about this, there was also the issue of escaped
fish from salnon farnms or other fish farmng, in case that is
permtted in the future.

Number 1110

CHAI R SEATON suggested, however, that it should be illegal if a
fi sherman cones back with golden king crab or sone other species
that isn't native to Kodiak, Cook Inlet, or Prince WIIliam Sound
and releases those to plant a new stock, unless there is a
permt issued by the commssioner [or the conm ssioner's
designee]; he referred to the l|anguage in subsection (a) on
[ page 1] line 7. He added that if such a permt were held,
which would be required in a mriculture or aquaculture
situation, this wouldn't apply. He requested confirmation from
M. Vincent-Lang that [subsection] (a) allows for a mariculture
or aquaculture operation that is permtted to "not be held to
this section.”

MR. VI NCENT-LANG said that's correct, and clearly the intent was
that if a permt is issued by the departnent, [the permttee]
woul d be exenpt. Wth regard to comercial fishernen, he said
he'd have to check whether or not transporting fish to a
different area and the Il anding of those fish are covered under a

permt. He surmsed that selling would be covered under a
permt, but not the release of any live fish into a different
ecosystem thus it would renmain illegal

CHAIR SEATON noted that this talks about "either that,"
wast ewater, or eggs. Reiterating that crab tanks nust

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 5- March 22, 2004



continuously circulate water and thus water flows overboard, he
enphasi zed that this is a normal activity of crab fishing, and
said it seens "a nore inportant part than introducing live crab
and rel easing them"

Nunber 1291

REPRESENTATI VE WOLF asked M. Vincent-Lang whether he could
define fish species versus crustacean or crab species.

MR, VI NCENT-LANG replied that he thinks the way "fish" is
defined under regulations, crustaceans would be included. He
said he was wondering whether another way to get around this is
to exenpt activities currently covered under water discharge
permts fromthe Departnment of Environnental Conservation (DEC)
if comrercial fishernmen needed water-quality permts from DEC to
rel ease wast ewat er

CHAI R SEATON answered that it isn't the case, however; crab
fishermen don't need a DEC permt, and yet they circulate sea
water from outside the boat through the crab tank, through the
crab, and then back overboard to bring in oxygen and keep the
crab alive.

Number 1392

REPRESENTATI VE W LSON began discussion of what would becone
Conceptual Anendnment 1. Referring to the wording "does not
apply to" [Section 1, page 1, line 9], she suggested there could
be a paragraph (3) that says: "conduct that is acceptable
fishing practices by conmmercial fishernen".

REPRESENTATI VE GARA proposed another addition: "or the
i nadvertent release by commercial fishermen of an Al aska species
fromone area into another”.

CHAI R SEATON noted that in comercial crab fisheries two actions
take place. First, water is circulated as described previously,
and the water that goes overboard could carry eggs or sonething
else; this is a normal commercial practice. Second, when taking
crab out of the tanks, fishermen discard crab that they think
are dead, generally by throwi ng them overboard; sone crab m ght
not really be dead, though.

CHAIR SEATON surmsed that the "incidental release” |anguage

woul d cover both, but reiterated that he doesn't want to go to
the extent of allowing intentional release or transport to

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 6- March 22, 2004



establish [a new area for those crab or other species].
Expressi ng concern about genetics-related problens, for exanple,
he requested confirmation that Representative (Ogg's intention
isn't to permt that.

Nunber 1613

REPRESENTATI VE OGG affirmed Chair Seaton's understanding. He
proposed |anguage along the followng Iines: "general ly
accepted conduct in relation to permtted commercial fishing".

REPRESENTATI VE GARA said he thinks the |anguage Representative
Ogg used is fine, but suggested limting it to saltwater
comerci al fishing. He explained that he'd hesitate to deal
with the argunent from sonmeone who believes nore hatchery sal non
are needed in a freshwater body, for exanple, since sonething
like that mght be generally accepted anong a nunber of
comerci al fishernen.

REPRESENTATI VE OGG responded that he had no problem with that,
but was trying to understand where comrercial fishernmen would be
"carrying buckets of sal non eggs into a | ake."

REPRESENTATI VE GARA replied that it's not really buckets and
that he doubted anybody could convince a court it's a generally
accepted practice, but explained that perhaps soneone could
argue that hatchery fish already exist in many salnon streans
and that he or she was only furthering the commercial purpose of
addi ng nore hatchery fish here. "WlIl, we don't want you to do
that,"” he remarked, added that he doesn't want to | eave any room
for argunent in the freshwater area.

CHAIR SEATON said that nakes sense to him because those
activities can be permtted and sonmeone should have a permt
before doing it. He nentioned genetic stocks.

REPRESENTATI VE OGG pointed out that salnon do transfer between
salt water and fresh water, and that Al aska has comerci al
salnon fisheries in fresh water. He again expressed concern
that it mght inpact comrercial fishermen who are doing what
they normally do in the course of their business.

Nunmber 1796
REPRESENTATI VE WOLF referred to page 1, line 6, which addresses

live fertilized eggs of nonindi genous speci es. He said soneone
is required to carry a permt to do any fertilization in any

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -7- March 22, 2004



| ake within Al aska. Recogni zi ng Representative QOgg's concerns
about crab, he said he'd fully accept the conceptual anendnent
t hat has been under di scussi on.

CHAI R SEATON asked whether anyone else wished to testify. He
then cl osed public testinony.

Nunmber 1882

REPRESENTATI VE OGG noved to adopt Conceptual Anmendnent 1, to
per haps have a paragraph (3) [after page 1, line 12] that covers
this concept: generally accepted conduct in relation to
permtted comrercial fishing would be excl uded.

CHAI R SEATON objected for purposes of discussion. Wth regard
to salt water, he referred to Representative WIf's discussion
of "noni ndi genous” and asked:

Does that really take <care of all of the

freshwater problens? In other words, if you're on the
Yukon River, any fish you catch there are going to be
i ndi genous? This would relate to ornanental fish, or

this would relate to ... other nonindi genous [species]
and eggs of nonindigenous fish. So, do we have a
situation where we are talking about anything that
. ?
Number 1980

REPRESENTATI VE OGG replied that not being a freshwater fisherman
"except for sheer joy," he doesn't know and would rather |eave
it to the departnent. He reiterated his desire to avoid having
commercial fishermen be subject to a class C felony if it is
limted to just salt water "and then we cause that to happen to
sonebody. " He said he didn't know if there is an event that
would do that, but if the departnent conmes back and says there
is nothing in fresh water that would be affected if [the
exenption] is limted to salt water, he has no problemwth it.
"But | don't want to set the paranmeter for them to say 'just
salt water', because they may not | ook beyond that," he added.

CHAI R SEATON asked whether within Conceptual Amendnent 1, then,
is that if the departnent feels it would be beneficial to have
"salt water' included and that it wouldn't inpact commerci al
fisheries in fresh water, Representative Ogg woul d accept having
it in there.

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 8- March 22, 2004



REPRESENTATIVE OGG affirnmed that, if it's acceptable to the
sponsor.

CHAI R SEATON asked Representative Gara whether that satisfies
hi s concerns.

REPRESENTATI VE GARA replied, "Sure, ... if it's OK with the
departnment to add 'saltwater commercial fishing', just to make
that term 'saltwater commercial fishing', just to be safe, that
would neke ne confortable, | guess.” He asked whet her
Representative Wl f would be asked to work with the departnent
or whether the commttee would "pass out the anendnent and have
Representative WIf report to us on the floor."

CHAI R SEATON pointed out that it wll go to the House Resources
Standing Conmttee. He said he was confortable enough with that
direction to the departnment. He asked whet her anyone el se had a
problem with giving the departnment |leeway to specify "saltwater"”
if it wouldn't negatively inpact any freshwater commerci al
fisheries. He then said Conceptual Anmendnent 1 inserts,
approximately on line 12 [page 1], a new [paragraph] (3) that
adds a generally accepted conduct in relationship to a permtted
commercial fishing activity, or to permtted comercial fishing.

Number 2116
CHAI R SEATON renpoved his objection.

CHAI R SEATON asked whether there was any objection to adopting
Conceptual Anendnent 1. There being no objection, it was so
or der ed.

Nunmber 2128

REPRESENTATI VE GARA noved to adopt Conceptual Amendnent 2 as
fol |l ows:

Page 2, line 1, after "class C fel ony”
Add ", and nmust pay a fine of at |east $1,500"

CHAI R SEATON obj ected for di scussion purposes.

REPRESENTATI VE GARA expl ai ned his reasoning: although this kind
of crime in many senses isn't as serious as one involving a
human victim it is, in sonme sense, a crine against the whole
conmuni ty. Tens of thousands of Al askans cherish that Al aska
has wild fish that in size and nunber are simlar to what

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 9- March 22, 2004



t hey' ve al ways been. "We've done a very good job nanagi ng our
fisheries, and when sonebody conmits the kind of conduct that
Representative WIf is trying to prevent, ... they inpact the
lives of the whole community at the sane tine," he expl ai ned.

REPRESENTATI VE GARA not ed that ADF&G has ongoing efforts to deal
with this inpact and has biologists who are concerned right now
with how to deal wth predatory, introduced, nonnative fish.
Therefore, he said, he believes it's appropriate for sonebody
who commts this crime to pay a mninum fine, since it occupies
the time of the state and inpacts the interests of its people.
Furthernore, he opined, this is the kind of conduct ADF&G can
help to deter by talking about the mninum $1,500 fine, by
posting it in appropriate places, for exanple. Thus he
suggested a mnimumfine in this regard is inportant.

Number 2237

CHAI R SEATON asked what the range of fines and penalties is for
a class C felony.

MR. VI NCENT- LANG answered that the maximum fine is up to $50, 000
and up to five years in jail for a class C felony. dCearly, he
said, a $15,000 penalty would be ...

CHAIR SEATON clarified that it's $1, 500.

MR VI NCENT- LANG responded that a $1,500 penalty would be in
line with the maxi mum al | owed under a class C felony.

CHAI R SEATON asked whether there is a mninmum currently in
statute for a class C fel ony.

MR. VI NCENT- LANG said he wasn't sure.
Nunmber 2278

REPRESENTATI VE GARA expressed confidence that there's no such
m nimum but made the commitnent that if this anendnent passes
and it turns out there is a mninum [already in statute], he'd
work with the sponsor to delete the |anguage.

REPRESENTATI VE OGG suggested conditional |anguage such that if

there is no mninumfine [already in statute], this will be the
m ni mum

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -10- March 22, 2004



REPRESENTATI VE GARA accepted that as a friendly anendnent that

mght result in the follow ng | anguage: "Unless a mninmm fine
is provided elsewhere in law, the mnimum fine for a violation
of this section shall be at [|east $1,500". In response to a

request from Chair Seaton to repeat it, he reworded it slightly:
"To the extent a mnimum fine is not provided el sewhere by |aw,
the mninmum fine for a violation of this section shall be
$1, 500." He offered to do research on the mninmum fine so the
| anguage coul d be cl eaned up on the House floor.

CHAI R SEATON specified that he wanted it done in the House
Resources Standing Conmmttee. He requested confirmation that
the intention, if there is a mnimm fine elsewhere in law, is
that this amendnent won't be incorporated.

REPRESENTATI VE GARA affirned that.

Nunmber 2450

CHAI R SEATON renoved his objection.

CHAI R SEATON asked whether there was any objection to adopting
[ Conceptual Anmendnent 2, as anended]. There being no objection

it was so ordered.

CHAI R SEATON noted that the halibut comm ssion has found that

15 percent of supposedly dead halibut come back to life and
survi ve.

Nunber 2532

REPRESENTATI VE GUTTENBERG referred to page 2, line 11,
paragraph (4), "water of the state". He asked whether that

definition is consistent throughout statute.

MR, VINCENT-LANG said it's a definition of how [ADF&S applies
public policy.

CHAI R SEATON asked whet her any of the other definitions are new.
MR. VI NCENT- LANG replied that they're basically consistent with
how [ADF&G has been applying this in ternms of nanaging the
fisheries.

Nunber 2591

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -11- March 22, 2004



REPRESENTATIVE OGG noved to report CSHB 309, Version 23-
LS1097\'S, U ernmohle, 3/12/04, as anended, out of commttee with
i ndi vi dual recomrendations and the acconpanying [zero] fiscal
not es. There being no objection, CSHB 309(FSH) was reported
fromthe House Special Commttee on Fisheries.

MR. VI NCENT- LANG said he'd be glad to work on the aforenentioned
| anguage.

ADJ OQURNVENT
There being no further business before the commttee, the House

Speci al Commttee on Fisheries neeting was adjourned at
9:51 a.m

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -12- March 22, 2004



